IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA FILED
SID J. WHITE
IEB 4 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CITY OF MIAMI,	<b>)</b>
Petitioner,	
v.	) CASE NO. 80,998
KENNETH A. LEIBNITZER,	
Respondent.	ORIGINAL

## INITIAL BRIEF OF THE CITY OF MIAMI

On Review of a Certified Question from the First District Court of Appeal

A. Quinn Jones, III, Esq.
City Attorney
Florida Bar No. 292591
Kathryn Pecko, Esq.
Assistant City Attorney
Florida Bar No. 508380
City of Miami
Attorneys for Petitioner
300 Biscayne Boulevard Way
Suite 300
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 579-6700

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Florida Bar No. 022730
Charles M. Auslander, Esq. Florida Bar No. 349747

#### Introduction

Based on an ordinance originally adopted by the City of Miami in 1940, the City reduced disability pension benefits for its retired employees in an amount equal to workers compensation benefits to which they were entitled for the same disabling event. This action by the City was challenged in eight lawsuits, and in each case this Court, the Third District or the First District held that the City's offsets were proper. In 1989, the Court held the City's ordinance to be invalid as of 1973, without expressing an opinion whether that invalidation applied both prospectively and retroactively, or only prospectively. *Barragan v. City of Miami*, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989).

The primary issue in this case is whether claimants injured between 1973 (the triggering date for ordinance invalidation) and 1989 (the year of the Court's ordinance invalidation) must be paid the amounts previously offset by the City. A determination by the Court adverse to the City will impose a staggering financial blow to the taxpayers of Miami, based on a multitude of present and potential claims for after-the-fact recoupments of offset sums which are floating in tribunals at various stages.<sup>2</sup>/

City of Miami v. Graham, 138 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 1962); City of Miami v. Giordano, 526 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); City of Miami v. Barragan, 517 So. 2d 99 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev'd, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989); City of Miami v. Knight, 510 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev. denied, 518 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1987); Thorpe v. City of Miami, 356 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied, 361 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1978); West v. City of Miami, 341 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 355 So. 2d 518 (Fla. 1978); Hoffkins v. City of Miami, 339 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 348 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 1977); and City of Miami v. West, 9 FCR 61 (1974), cert. denied, 310 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1975).

Some claimants have petitions for review pending in this court, some have cases pending in the First District Court of Appeal, and some have claims pending before Judges of Compensation Claims. The Court has denied the City's request to stay these various proceedings pending the outcome of this appeal.

The second major set of issues relate to imposition of a 10% penalty on the City for not voluntarily treating the Court's 1989 ordinance invalidation decision as being retroactive and simply paying Mr. Leibnitzer's claim. This issue comes to the Court on a certified question. City of Miami v. Leibnitzer, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D194 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 22, 1992).

#### Statement of the Facts and the Case

Kenneth A. Leibnitzer, a firefighter employed by the City of Miami, suffered a compensable accident on July 10, 1979. (R. 2). The City accepted Leibnitzer as permanently and totally disabled on July 30, 1980, with a weekly compensation rate of \$211.00. (R. 2,3). Leibnitzer was granted a service-connected disability pension on July 30, 1981. (R. 3). His gross disability pension was offset by \$91.33 monthly until August 1, 1989. (R. 4, 400). This offset amount, together with interest, penalties, costs and attorneys' fees, constitutes the amount in dispute in this appeal.

After the Court's decision in *Barragan v. City of Miami*, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989), Leibnitzer filed a claim for reimbursement of his pension offset, together with interest, penalties, costs and attorneys' fees on February 18, 1991 and the City sent its notice to controvert on February 28, 1991. (R. 61). The City defended, *inter alia*, on the basis that the *Barragan* decision should not be applied retroactively to entitle Leibnitzer to reimbursement. (R. 61).

A Judge of Compensation Claims rejected the City's defenses, awarded Leibnitzer permanent total disability benefits of \$211.00 per week for the offset period, and further awarded a 10% penalty, interest on the benefits awarded, costs and attorneys' fees. (R. 393-402). The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the award *in toto*, but certified to the

Court the same penalty question that had been certified in City of Miami v. Bell, 606 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review pending, Case No. 80,524.

#### **Summary of Argument**

When the Court decided *Barragan* in 1989, it unsettled the City's common, courtapproved practice of deducting from pension payments the amount paid to former
employees under the workers' compensation provisions of Chapter 440. Once this longapproved practice was deemed contrary to law, the City dealt with the budgetary effects of
removing this offset and fully complied with the *Barragan* decision on a prospective basis.

The First District's determination that *Barragan* is to apply retroactively has caused further
financial turmoil and, of course, spun off a legal debate now to be determined for the first
time by this Court. The City is convinced that *Barragan* should not be applied
retrospectively to award payments of windfall proportions to claimants.

Prior affirmations of the City's right of offset should put any such use of *Barragan* completely to rest. *Barragan* constituted a drastic change in law which expressly overturned several previous district court decisions regarding the same City ordinance. There can be no question that, in taking the offset, the City conducted itself with justifiable reliance on these past decisions. This good faith behavior of the City, coupled with the intent of the workers' compensation law and the obvious inequities befalling the City from a retrospective application of *Barragan*, demonstrate the appropriateness of prospective limitation.

In a second drain on the City's taxpayers, the First District has imposed a 10% statutory penalty for untimely payment of the retrospective award. This punitive penalty on the City has no logical support in the language of the compensation law, or in the judicial

gloss on the statute. Clearly, this is a circumstance where the City had no control over the conditions of non-payment, and where it possesses a totally valid excuse for not immediately issuing retroactive pension payments. The City's conduct reveals no incidents of contemptuous behavior, but simply an inability to prognosticate the decision in *Barragan* and its later retroactive application by the First District. Regardless of whether the determination of retroactivity is upheld (and the City vehemently disagrees that it should be), the tack-on penalty cannot be condoned.

Another absolute barrier to the imposition of a 10% penalty is that the increase in benefits awarded to offset pension fund deductions does not constitute an "installment of compensation" under section 440.20(5), Florida Statutes (1979). By its terms, that section of the law does not pertain in this case. Moreover, those installments were fully paid by the City, and this language of the Act properly deserves strict construction to exclude what really constitutes a payback of offsets from pension plan installments. It is clear, as well, that section 440.21(1), which was construed in *Barragan*, provides for only two things: invalidation of any "offset-establishing" agreements and the misdemeanor criminalizing of any such agreement. No civil penalty is articulated for a breach of section 440.21, further proving the nonapplicability of section 440.20 and the distorting effects of trying to impose a section 440.20 penalty on a *Barragan* breach of section 440.21.

No prejudgment interest should have been awarded, and certainly none is appropriate dating from 1980 based on retroactive liability (if any). No further penalties would be warranted should the district court issue its mandate during the pendency of these review proceedings.

#### **Argument**

The first and most fundamental issue in this appeal is the retroactivity of the Barragan decision. This issue not only affects Leibnitzer, but numerous other claimants seeking retroactive reimbursement for pre-Barragan disability pension offsets.<sup>3</sup>/ The second set of major issues address the applicability of the 10% penalty which the workers' compensation law provides for employers who inexcusably delay either paying compensation claims or denying that payment is due.<sup>4</sup>/

# 1. The Barragan Decision Should Not be Given Retroactive Effect.

In its Barragan decision, the Court did not make a determination one way or the other as to whether the decision would have retroactive effect. Not all precedent-setting cases are given retroactive effect, of course. See National Distributing Co., Inc. v. Office of Comptroller, 523 So. 2d 156 (Fla. 1988). While an overruling decision will, as a general rule, be applied retroactively, this Court has scrutinized the reliance of parties on previous precedent to determine if prospectivity alone is the most equitable result. See Brackenridge

Six offset reimbursements have been paid, aggregating almost \$700,000, as a consequence of the Court's denial of review in City of Miami v. Burnett, Case No. 79,925; City of Miami v. Pierattini, Case No. 79,926; City of Miami v. Johnson, Case No. 79,927; City of Miami v. Majewski, Case No. 79,928; City of Miami v. Moye, Case No. 79,951; and City of Miami v. Ogle, Case No. 80,055. The first of these cases, oddly, was one of the two decisions which held the Court's 1989 ordinance invalidation decision to be retroactive.

The penalty issue is before the Court on a certified question from the First District Court of Appeal. The retroactivity and other issues are before the Court under the doctrine announced in *Bould v. Touchette*, 349 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1977); *Hillsborough Ass'n for Retarded Citizens v. City of Temple Terrace*, 332 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1976).

The issue of retroactivity was never briefed to the Court. The only mention of retroactivity appeared in discussion by the City in its motion for rehearing.

v. Ametek, 517 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 488 U. S. 801 (1988); Florida Forest & Park Service v. Strickland, 18 So. 2d 251 (Fla. 1944).

## (a) The City's justifiable reliance.

The district court held that *Barragan* should be applied retroactively to Leibnitzer's claim for offset reimbursement. The panel actually expressed no analysis of that issue, but merely adopted by reference previous decisions of other First District panels including *City of Miami v. Burnett*, 596 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev. denied*, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. Oct. 14, 1992) and *City of Daytona Beach v. Amsel*, 585 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), both of which had construed *Barragan* to be retroactive. The district court was wrong. It is impossible to imagine a clearer instance of a decision which states a new principle of law than the overruling of past precedents on which a litigant relied as a party.

It is relevant to note at this juncture that the multiple district court decisions which were rejected by the Court in *Barragan* are considered (and properly so) as the final judicial word on the principles of law for which they stood. It is not as if these were interim, or intermediate court decisions. They were tantamount to Supreme Court decisions in every jurisprudential way. District court review is "in most instances . . . final and absolute."

Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958). Their decisions "represent the law of Florida unless and until they are overruled by this Court . . . ." Stanfill v. State, 384 So. 2d 141, 143 (Fla. 1980).

The Barragan decision recognized those effects. It announced it was overruling past precedents that were uniformly contrary and clear. Six separate appellate decisions had reached and articulated the conclusion which Barragan overturned, and the Court had even

declined "conflict" review in three of these cases. Most compelling is the fact that the litigant in all of those cases was the City of Miami itself, and the issue in each was exactly the issue in Barragan. There could not be a more lavish demonstration of justifiable reliance on past decisions than that recorded by the City. 6/

Prior to the *Barragan* decision in 1989, an unbroken line of district court decisions over a period of 27 years had conclusively provided judicial imprimatur for the City to offset amounts due in disability pension benefits by amounts awarded as workers' compensation payments. The *Barragan* decision held that the Florida Legislature's 1973 repeal of a long-standing, statutory offset authorization -- section 440.09(4), Florida Statutes -- had the effect of invalidating the City's comparable 1940 offset ordinance. The district court decisions in *Giordano, Barragan, Knight, Thorpe, West* and *Hoffkins*, however, had all acknowledged and explained the City's right to exercise the offset despite the legislature's repeal of section 440.09(4). A brief excursion into their rationale is instructive as to the City's clear basis for comfortable reliance on this impressive array of cases.

One of the pre-Barragan precedents -- Hoffkins in 1976 -- expressly addressed the repeal of section 440.09(4) and confirmed the manner in which the City had construed its effect vis-a-vis the City of Miami's pre-existing ordinance. The Third District in Hoffkins saw no reason why the City's ordinance, in existence since 1940, could not maintain its own viability to require disability pension offsets in the exact manner authorized by section

The district court obviously understood that effect of *Barragan* when it wrote in *Bell* that "the supreme court 'dropped' the *Barragan* bomb." *City of Miami v. Bell*, 606 So. 2d at 1185.

440.09(4) prior to its 1973 repeal. *Hoffkins*, 339 So. 2d at 1146. That was 1976, some thirteen years prior to *Barragan*.

Eleven years after *Hoffkins*, in *Knight*, the First District issued a decision which elaborated on the theme struck in *Hoffkins* and lent it further credence. In *Knight*, the court reconciled assertions of disharmony between the City's long-standing ordinance and the equally long-standing section 440.21 of the workers' compensation law -- a statute which appeared to disallow and criminalize any form of benefits reduction. The *Knight* court analyzed a line of three cases from this Court which had strictly construed section 440.21,<sup>7</sup> and concluded they meant only

that workers' compensation benefits cannot be reduced by any benefit to which the claimant is contractually entitled independently of workers' compensation.

Knight, 510 So. 2d at 1073.

The cases distinguished by *Knight* were the very ones that the Court utilized to reach the diametrically opposite result in *Barragan*! Thus, the 11-year string of decisions from *Hoffkins* through *Knight*, up to this Court's *Barragan* decision, had specifically and uniformly upheld the City's right to reduce collectively bargained-for pension payments by amounts received by claimants under the workers' compensation law, based on analyses of both section 440.21 and repealed section 440.09(4).

None of this discussion is intended to reargue the merits of *Barragan*. It does verify, however, that the reliance factor in determining whether *Barragan* should apply retroactively overwhelmingly favors the City. The result reached in *Barragan*, and the reasoning,

Jewel Tea Co., Inc. v. Florida Industrial Commission, 235 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1969); Brown v. S.S. Kresge Co. Inc., 305 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1975); Domutz v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co., 339 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 1976).

constituted 180% departures from clear, past precedent in "City" cases, on which the City obviously and fairly had relied.

The Court's decision in *National Distributing* provides both the rationale and result to compel <u>non</u>-retroactivity for *Barragan*. The legislature had enacted laws consistent with its plenary power to regulate alcoholic beverages under the Twenty First Amendment to the United States Constitution. It had acted "in good faith," according to the Court, but had been stung by a "marked departure from prior precedent" of the United States Supreme Court when that court subsequently determined that Florida's laws were in violation of the Commerce Clause -- article I, section 8 of the United States Constitution. *National Distributing Co.*, 523 So. 2d at 157-58. Yet the Court refused to apply the policy change retroactively in *National Distributing*. The result there cannot be different than the result here. The City has acted in no less "good faith" than the legislature did. If the state's lawmakers were stung by a reversal of judicial precedent at the highest judicial level, no less were the City's lawmakers afflicted by this Court's reversal of six district court precedents!

The First District has reasoned that *Barragan* should be given retroactive application, however, because section 440.21 was the law at the time the claimant entered into his particular contract with the City, and consequently no offset rule could constitute a provision of that agreement. *Amsel*, 585 So. 2d at 1046 (concerning the Daytona Beach ordinance);

The City's "good faith" in effect has been adjudicated already. The district court in *Bell* framed its certified question on the 10% penalty in terms of the City's "good faith reliance" on the validity of its offset ordinance. 17 F.L.W. at D2184.

Burnett, 596 So. 2d at 478 (concerning the Miami ordinance). For a retroactivity analysis, this rationale is utterly unpersuasive.

The pre-Barragan cases on which the City justifiably relied had effectively held that the City's ordinance was neither inconsistent with nor voided by section 440.21. Burnett and Amsel adopted a legal fiction -- that the statute canceled contract provisions. That fiction simply made it possible to rule for the claimants, without saying that the harmonization of statute and ordinance as previously adjudicated in Knight was wrong. It is hardly surprising that the City should now cry "foul" at this legal revisionism. The First District's decisions should be rejected, and Barragan should be applied only prospectively.

### (b) History and purpose of the rule.

Retroactivity is anathema to workers' compensation. Any retrospective result of substantial effect in workers' compensation cases has been studiously avoided, if at all possible. This thesis emerges both from the case law and from the underlying policy of the statutory scheme. This Court has twice previously expressed the conclusion that "[t]he statutory and decisional law pertaining on the date that an accident has occurred must prevail in a work[ers'] compensation case." *Kerce v. Coca-Cola Company - Foods Division*, 389 So. 2d 1177, n. 1 (Fla. 1980) (emphasis added); *Simmons v. City of Coral Gables*, 186 So. 2d 493, 495 (Fla. 1966).

Burnett states the same conclusion in the negative, by finding that section 440.21 voided the long-standing Miami ordinance as of July 1, 1973. See also, City of Miami v. Jones, 593 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1992).

The workers' compensation statute rests on a policy fashioned to balance stability and predictability. On-the-job injuries and disabilities covered by the Act are compensated on a prompt and stable schedule of payments, in exchange for abrogation of the employee's right to sue in tort. Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co., 498 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1986).

Lump sum awards representing duplicative and overlapping benefits which had been bargained away -- an aggregation providing a windfall "double dip" -- is completely incompatible with either the prompt-payment assurances of the Act for workers or the youwon't-get-slammed-later assurances of the Act for employers. See section 440.20, Florida Statutes (1975); Sullivan v. Mayo, 121 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 1960). The lump sum awards being sought here have all the suddenness, unpredictability and devastation of an adverse tort award.

For almost 50 years, Miami's ordinance effectuated a reduction in pension benefits under a contractual arrangement which reduced those payments if a disability was also compensated by workers' compensation payments. Nothing unnatural or unfair inheres in a contractual bargain of that nature. There is no need to elaborate here on the notion that the City had every legitimate right to tailor its financial responsibilities in accordance with the offset ordinance. The policy of the workers' compensation law favoring prompt and settled periodic payment of benefits would be destabilized by a retroactive application of *Barragan*, causing the dual consequences of providing a non-periodic windfall to former employees and a treasury-busting drain on the employer.

Pension plans under ERISA are allowed by law to be "integrated" with Social Security in exactly in the same fashion. By this means, employers can provide more affordable retirement benefits without duplicating or diminishing those benefits.

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