Chief Deputy Clerk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 80,998

CITY OF MIAMI,

Petitioner,

v.

KENNETH A. LEIBNITZER,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, KENNETH A. LEIBNITZER

> RICHARD A. SICKING Attorney for Respondent 2700 S. W. Third Avenue, Suite 1E Miami, Florida 33129 Telephone (305) 858-9181 Florida Bar No. 073747

#

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

The statute further provides:

If the employer/carrier initially accepts the claim but subsequently controverts same, it shall file with the division a notice to controvert, within 10 days after the date of initial cessation of benefits, stating the reasons for the delayed controversion and a copy of such notice shall be furnished by the carrier to the employee and employer.

This is implemented by Rule 38F-3.12, "Fla. Ad. Weekly", Vol. 10, No. 15, at p. 1156 (April 13, 1984).

The role of the Division upon the receipt of this notice is set forth in sub-section 10(b). It provides that the Division:

Shall in any case where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been stopped or suspended, upon receipt of notice from any person entitled to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been stopped or suspended, make such investigations, cause such medical examination to be made, or hold such hearings, and take such further action as it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

When the employer who denies a benefit to an employee does not file a notice to controvert as required by the statute, not only may the employee not know that he is entitled to claim a benefit, but the Division would not know

that it should investigate the matter. The employer/carrier in such case is literally "hiding in the weeds".

Sub-section 7 provides for the penalty for this misconduct.

If any installment of compensation for death or dependency benefits, disability, permanent impairment, or wage loss, payable without an award is not paid within 14 days after it becomes due, as provided in subsection (2), subsection (3), or subsection (4), there shall be added to such unpaid installment a punitive penalty of an amount equal to 10 percent thereof, which shall be paid at the same time as, but in addition to, such installment of compensation, unless notice is filed under subsection (6), or unless such nonpayment results from conditions over which the employer or carrier had no control... The insurance policy cannot provide that this sum will be paid by the carrier if the division or the deputy commissioner determines that the 10 percent additional payment should be made by the employer rather than the carrier. Any additional installment of compensation paid by the carrier pursuant to this <u>section</u> shall be paid directly to the employee.

The statute does provide that this 10% penalty is assessable against the employer or the carrier, depending upon who was at fault. It further provided that if the employer is at fault, it is not to be paid by the insurance carrier, but by the employer. In 1979, the statute was amended to provide that this is a punitive penalty so that it will not be included in the rate base for employers. The 1980 statute applicable to the present case refers to the benefits under this section to be an "additional installment of compensation payable to the employee". §440.20(7), Fla. Stat. (1980). This conforms to Lockett v. Smith, supra.

Barragan v. City of Miami, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989) was decided by this Court on April 20, 1989. At that point, the City had reason to know that employees like the Respondent, Leibnitzer, who had had their disability pensions reduced by the amount of workers' compensation from the date of their retirement, would be entitled to the payment of workers'

compensation equal to the amount that had been deducted. Indeed, the awards to Barragan and Giordano in that case by the Judge of Compensation Claims were from the date of their respective retirements. (R. 123-126, 127-132).

The City filed a motion for rehearing in which it told the Court that there were other retirees of the City who would be entitled to a similar benefit as Barragan and Giordano. The City asked the Court to make the decision prospective only. This Court denied the City's motion for rehearing on July 14, 1989.

In its motion for rehearing, the City had asserted that if the motion for rehearing was denied, that the City would file a lawsuit, a suit for declaratory decree, seeking a determination that the decision did not apply to other retirees or that it should be prospective only. (R. 143, 168-169). The City did not file such suit. Instead, it paid Barragan and Giordano from the dates of their respective retirements; but as to the other employees, it stopped taking the offset prospectively as of August 1, 1989. It did not pay the Respondent, Leibnitzer, (or anyone else other than Barragan and Giordano) the amount that had been deducted since the date of his retirement to August 1, 1989.

At that point, the City should have filed a notice to controvert to notify the employee and the Division of Workers' Compensation that it was denying the payment of benefits from the date of retirement to August 1, 1989. If it had done so, it would not now be liable for the 20% penalty. The City should have filed a notice to controvert no later than August 4, 1989.

The sad truth of it that the misconduct which the statute was designed to prevent was exactly what the City did. The City claimed that in *Barragan* and *Giordano* that there were other persons to whom the decision

would apply to whom the City would owe money. By not filing a timely notice to controvert in July/August of 1989 when the benefit was denied, if there be any one of those persons who does not know that the benefit was denied to him, who will not know to claim that it has been denied to him, then the City has just saved the money that is owed to that disabled person; but they would have saved it illegally, even now.

At the hearing, the City presented no evidence, no witnesses, to show that the failure to make payment in July/August of 1989 was beyond the City's control. The trial judge found that they had presented no such excuse. That finding is supported by competent substantial evidence.

The issue is not why the City did not make payment before July 14, 1989. That is not what is involved here. To that extent, the certified question is misdenominated.

The majority opinion of the District Court in City of Miami v. Bell, supra, correctly holds that the Judge was correct in finding that in July/August of 1989 the City knew that under Barragan it owed the Respondent, Leibnitzer, compensation that was not paid from the date of his retirement to August 1, 1989, and not just prospectively from August 1, 1989. The majority was correct in affirming the Judge's finding that the City knew that it was denying the payment of benefits retrospectively and that it did not notify the Division or the employee at that time in the manner required by law.

The majority correctly held that it was the City's failure to file a notice to controvert in July/August of 1989 that gave rise to the imposition of the 10% penalty and not anything that the City had done, or not done, prior to the *Barragan* decision. In that respect, the holding of the majority of the District Court in *City of Miami v. Bell*, supra, is perfectly in accord with the

statutory scheme as enacted by the Legislature and fully in accord with all of the penalty cases, as well as actual practice. In the Respondent, Leibnitzer's case, the decision was unanimous.

The Petitioner/City relies upon the dissent in City of Miami v. Bell, supra, which is just that, a dissent. However, the dissent does not follow the statute. The dissent proposes that an employer/carrier is not obligated to file a notice to controvert when it denies a benefit as the statute requires. The dissent proposes that the employer is not required to file a notice to controvert until an appellate court later decides that it was wrong in denying the benefit. The dissent said that the notice to controvert was not due when the City denied the benefit, but rather should have been filed after the First District Court of Appeal decided City of Daytona Beach v. Amsel, 585 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), by which the City would have absolutely, positively known that the denial was wrong.

§440.20, Fla. Stat. does not deal with whether the employer/carrier is right or wrong, or knows whether it is right or wrong, when it denies a benefit. It simply requires that the employer/carrier notify the Division and the employee that it has denied a benefit. If it is right, no penalty will ever be owed. Even if it is wrong, if it files a timely notice to controvert, it will not owe the penalty. But if it is wrong and it does not file a timely notice to controvert, if it conceals from the Division and from the employee that it has denied a benefit, then the statutory penalty is imposed.

Interestingly enough, the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in City of Miami v. Bell, supra, is a substituted opinion for an earlier opinion of the Court. The substituted opinion says that the case was circulated to the Court en banc after the panel decision and with one member recusing himself, the whole Court split six to six, which then had

the effect of reverting the decision to the panel decision. That is the reason given for certifying the case to the Supreme Court. The difficulty, however, is that the decision does not state what was the circulated question, nor does it show which Judges voted, or which way they voted, or why.

The mere fact that a case contains a dissent or that the lower Court may have been divided in some fashion does not make the case one of great public importance.

The case only involves the City of Miami. After repeal of the offset statute in 1973, the State stopped offsetting. All of the counties in Florida stopped offsetting. All of the cities in Florida stopped offsetting; or if they did not, after *Barragan*, with the exception of Daytona Beach and Miami, they fixed it and did not complain. Even Daytona Beach did not complain to this Court about *Amsel*.

The City of Miami uses this certified question to argue that this Court should change its decision in the *Barragan* case of less than three years ago, a decision which everyone else in Florida has apparently complied with, if they needed to.

There is absolutely nothing about the decision affirming the order of the Judge of Compensation Claims awarding the penalty which is in any way a departure from established law, either the statute, case decisions, or actual practice.

In its order setting forth the briefing schedule, this Court deferred deciding whether to take jurisdiction in this case at all. The Respondent, Leibnitzer, submits that the Court should either decline to exercise jurisdiction in this case, or should affirm the decision of the District Court below.

## **POINT III**

- (A) THE AWARD OF STATUTORY INTEREST IS CORRECT;
- (B) THE AWARD OF THE STATUTORY PENALTY IS CORRECT;

AN ACCUMULATION OF INSTALLMENTS IS STILL AN INSTALLMENT OF COMPENSATION.

The City contends that the award of interest was incorrect. First of all, this was not argued to the Judge of Compensation Claims nor to the First District Court of Appeal below, but is raised here for the first time.

As the City presents this argument it is in tandem with the City's contention that the payment of workers' compensation, which was unpaid to the claimant on account of the *Barragan* decision, is not an installment of compensation within the meaning of §440.20, Fla. Stat. with respect to penalties and interest. This is the City's argument on the certified question in *City of Miami v. Arostegui*, 606 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), which is not the question certified in the present case.

According to their argument, if more than one installment is due, then the aggregate amount is no longer an installment.

In *Parker v. Brinson Construction Co.*, 78 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 1955), the Supreme Court held that statutory interest was due on unpaid workers' compensation pursuant to §687.01, Fla. Stat., which at that time was at 6% per annum.

There was a statutory enactment (before Leibnitzer's accident) in Laws of Fla., Ch. 78-300, providing for 12% interest for payments due after July 1, 1978. *Myers v. Carr Construction Co.*, 387 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

In Parker v. Brinson Construction Co., supra, this Court held:

The compensation act is to be construed in favor of the working man. Not only have we said this on many occasions but the act itself so provides. Sec. 440.26 FS. If an employer controverts the right to compensation, the penalty fixed by the law for an unsuccessful contest is not only the payment in full of the award from the beginning but also attorneys' fees and other specified costs. If a carrier fails to pay an installment due without an award within the specified period of fourteen days, under specified circumstances, the carrier suffers a penalty of 10% thereof, Section 440.20(5); and if the carrier fails to pay an award within fourteen days, there may be added thereto and amount equal to 20% thereof, Section 440.20(6). The basic philosophy of the act is to insure and secure prompt payment of compensation or other awards to the man who works for wages or his beneficiaries. The Court knows that the smaller the award of compensation, the greater the need for the prompt payment thereof. It is common knowledge that those who work for small wages are dependent upon such wages for their immediate livelihood. Inherent in the act itself is that the intention that if such an award is wrongfully withheld (and under the law it is wrongfully withheld if it be eventually determined that it should have been paid), the person or the party which should have paid it should be compelled to pay, as damages for its detention, lawful interest thereon from the date it should have been paid, and the amount thereof is to be determined by applying Section 687.01 FS 1951, F.S.A., which provides:

'In all cases where interest shall accrue without a special contract for the rate thereof, the rate shall be six percent per annum, but parties may contract for lesser or greater rate by contract in writing.' Parker v. Brinson Construction, supra, at 875-876.

The City's argument is: if more than one installment is due, then the amount due is a lump sum and is no longer an installment, Given the purpose of the penalties statute and interest statute, the argument apart from being absurd, is not exactly novel. Somebody tried to argue that before and it was specifically rejected in *Santana v. Atlantic Envelope Co.*, 568 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). *Brinson* is really to the same effect. Interest is

after all automatically payable. *Poole & Kent Co. v. Asbell*, 394 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

The City's argument that this is a windfall to these police officers and fire fighters who were totally disabled in the line of duty is offensive. These employees lost their livelihood on account of their injuries. They did not receive what the Legislature intended they should have received on account of the repeal of §440.09(4) in 1973.

The Third District Court of Appeal held in *City of Miami v. Gates*, 393 So. 2d. 586 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) [*Gates* I], that beginning in 1973 and for the years thereafter the City took money out of these employees' pension trust fund to pay them their workers' compensation benefits on account of this offset. The Third District Court of Appeal held that this was unlawful. The City now claims it took the money from the trust fund in "good faith". There is no proof in this record that the City acted in good faith and the holding in *Gates* I was that the City had not.

The Judge of Compensation Claims found in the present case:

Quite simply, the City admits that the claimant was entitled to permanent total disability from July 30, 1981, to August 1, 1989, at \$211.00 per week. However, this was not actually paid. (R. 400).

In City of Miami v. Gates, 393 So. 2d. 586 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) [Gates I], the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the Circuit Judge's determination that the City had taken \$145,000.00 out of the pension trust fund beginning in 1973 and similarly in the years thereafter to pay workers' compensation to the totally disabled employees. (R. 99-108). To put it bluntly, because of this offset, the disabled employees never received their workers' compensation and the City of Miami did not pay it. They were

paid with their own money. This is the holding of *Gates* I. This is the holding of *Barragan*.

On this point also, the decision should either be affirmed or review  $declined.^7$ 

## CONCLUSION

Affirm or decline to review.